WILEY-VCH

Edited by Mehmet Gürsoy and Mustafa Karaman

# Surface Treatments for Biological, Chemical and Physical Applications



Surface Treatments for Biological, Chemical, and Physical Applications

## Surface Treatments for Biological, Chemical, and Physical Applications

Edited by Mehmet Gürsoy and Mustafa Karaman

## WILEY-VCH

#### The Editors

#### Mehmet Gürsoy

Selcuk University Department of Chemical Engineering Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü Merkez/Konya 42075 Turkey

Prof. Mustafa Karaman

Selcuk University Department of Chemical Engineering Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü Merkez/Konya 42075 Turkey

#### Cover

Pond image - fotolia\_© Kalle Kolodziej and image of droplets - fotolia\_© fotofuerst. All books published by Wiley-VCH are carefully produced. Nevertheless, authors, editors, and publisher do not warrant the information contained in these books, including this book, to be free of errors. Readers are advised to keep in mind that statements, data, illustrations, procedural details or other items may inadvertently be inaccurate.

Library of Congress Card No.: applied for

#### British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

### Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at http://dnb.d-nb.de.

© 2017 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Boschstr. 12, 69469 Weinheim, Germany

All rights reserved (including those of translation into other languages). No part of this book may be reproduced in any form – by photoprinting, microfilm, or any other means – nor transmitted or translated into a machine language without written permission from the publishers. Registered names, trademarks, etc. used in this book, even when not specifically marked as such, are not to be considered unprotected by law.

Print ISBN: 978-3-527-34083-5 ePDF ISBN: 978-3-527-69880-6 ePub ISBN: 978-3-527-69882-0 Mobi ISBN: 978-3-527-69883-7 oBook ISBN: 978-3-527-69881-3

Cover Design Adam Design, Weinheim, Germany Typesetting SPi Global Private Limited, Chennai, India

**Printing and Binding** 

Printed on acid-free paper

#### Contents

List of Contributors xi Preface xv

1 Surfaces in Nature 1	
------------------------	--

- Mehmet Gürsoy and Mustafa Karaman
- 1.1 Introduction 1
- 1.2 Inspiring Natural Surface Structures 2
- 1.2.1 Self-Cleaning Surfaces 2
- 1.2.2 Adhesive Hydrophobic Surfaces 6
- 1.2.3 Unidirectionally Superhydrophobic Surfaces 7
- 1.2.4 Fog Harvesting Surfaces 9
- 1.2.5 Anti-reflective Surfaces 10
- 1.2.6 Structural Color 11
- 1.2.7 Drag Reduction and Antifouling Surfaces 13
- 1.2.8 Adhesive Surfaces 13
- 1.3 Conclusion 15
  - References 16

#### 2 Chemical and Physical Modification of Surfaces 23

Mustafa Karaman, Mehmet Gürsoy, Mahmut Kuş, Faruk Özel, Esma Yenel, Özlem G. Şahin, and Hilal D. Kivrak

- 2.1 Introduction 23
- 2.2 Vapor Deposition Processes 24
- 2.2.1 Physical Vapor Deposition 24
- 2.2.1.1 Types of PVD Processes 25
- 2.2.2 Chemical Vapor Deposition 29
- 2.2.2.1 CVD Reactors 31
- 2.2.2.2 Basic Principles of CVD: Thermodynamics, Chemistry, Heat, and Mass Transfer *33*
- 2.2.2.3 Various Types of CVD 37
- 2.2.2.4 Chemical Vapor Deposition of Polymeric Thin Films 40
- 2.2.3 Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD) 46
- 2.3 Wet Coating Techniques 48
- 2.3.1 Sol-Gel Coating 48

- vi Contents
  - 2.3.1.1 Effect of pH 49
  - 2.3.1.2 Water Content 49
  - 2.3.1.3 The Types of Precursors 50
  - 2.3.1.4 Temperature, Drying, and Aging 51
  - 2.3.1.5 Sol–Gel Coatings 52
  - 2.3.2 Electrospinning 52
  - 2.3.2.1 Emulsion Electrospinning 55
  - 2.3.2.2 Coaxial Electrospinning 55
  - 2.3.2.3 Melt Electrospinning 55
  - 2.3.3 Electrolytic Anodization 56
  - 2.3.4 Electroplating 57
  - 2.3.5 Electroless Plating 58
  - 2.3.6 Electrophoretic Deposition 59
  - 2.3.7 Dip Coating 59
    - References 60

#### 3 Surface Characterization Techniques 67

- Gökhan Erdoğan, Günnur Güler, Tuğba Kiliç, Duygu O. Kiliç, Beyhan Erdoğan, Zahide Tosun, Hilal D. Kivrak, Uğur Türkan, Fatih Özcan, Mehmet Gürsoy, and Mustafa Karaman
- 3.1 Introduction 67
- 3.2 Surface Characterization Methods 67
- 3.2.1 X-ray Spectroscopy Techniques 67
- 3.2.1.1 X-rays Florescent Spectroscopy 68
- 3.2.1.2 X-ray Diffraction Technique 69
- 3.2.1.3 X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy 71
- 3.2.2 Surface Characterization with FTIR Spectroscopy 72
- 3.2.2.1 FTIR Spectrometers 73
- 3.2.2.2 Methods and Sampling Techniques 74
- 3.2.2.3 Advantages and Disadvantages of FTIR Spectroscopy 76
- 3.2.2.4 Applications of FTIR Spectroscopy 77
- 3.2.3 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy 79
- 3.2.3.1 Theory of NMR Spectroscopy 80
- 3.2.3.2 Types of NMR Spectroscopy 81
- 3.2.3.3 Instrumentation and Sample Handling 82
- 3.2.3.4 Applications of NMR 83
- 3.2.4 Electron Microscopes 83
- 3.2.4.1 Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) 84
- 3.2.4.2 Environmental Scanning Electron Microscopy (ESEM) 87
- 3.2.4.3 Transmission Electron Microscope 89
- 3.2.5 Scanning Probe Microscopy 95
- 3.2.5.1 Working Principle 96
- 3.2.5.2 Operating Modes of SPM 97
- 3.2.5.3 Contact Mode AFM 97
- 3.2.5.4 Noncontact Mode AFM 98
- 3.2.5.5 Intermittent Contact Mode AFM 98
- 3.2.5.6 Closed Cell Liquid AFM 98
- 3.2.5.7 STM 98

Contents vii

3.2.5.8	MFM 100
3.2.5.9	EFM 100
3.2.5.10	LFM 100
3.2.5.11	Nanoindentation 100
3.2.6	Contact Angle 101
3.2.7	BET (Brunauer – Emmett – Teller) Analysis 102
3.2.8	Terahertz Time Domain Spectroscopy 104
	References 108
4	Surface Modification of Polymeric Membranes for Various
	Separation Processes 115
	Woei-Jye Lau, Chi-Siang Ong, Nik Abdul Hadi Md Nordin,
	Nur Aimie Abdullah Sani, Nadzirah Mohd Mokhtar, Rasoul Jamshidi Gohari,
	Daryoush Emadzadeh, Ahmad Fauzi Ismail
4.1	Introduction 115
4.2	Methods of Membrane Surface Modification 116
4.2.1	Blending 116
4.2.1.1	Polymer – Polymer Blending 116
4.2.1.2	Polymer – Inorganic Blending 117
4.2.2	Surface Coating 118
4.2.2.1	Interfacial Polymerization 118
4.2.2.2	Layer-by-Layer Coating 119
4.2.2.3	Sol–Gel Coating 120
4.2.2.4	Spin Coating 123
4.2.3	Photo-Initiated Polymerization 124
4.2.3.1	UV-Initiated "Grafting-to" Membrane Surface 124
4.2.3.2	UV-Initiated "Grafting-from" Membrane Surface 125
4.2.4	Other Surface Modification Methods 127
4.3	Advancements of Surface-Modified Membranes for Various
	Separation Processes 128
4.3.1	Wastewater Treatment 128
4.3.1.1	Ultrafiltration and Forward Osmosis for Oily Wastewater 128
4.3.1.2	Nanofiltration and Membrane Distillation for Textile Wastewater 134
4.3.2	Drinking Water Production 142
4.3.2.1	Reverse Osmosis and Forward Osmosis for Brackish Water/Seawater
	Desalination 142
4.3.2.2	Adsorptive Ultrafiltration for Underground Water 148
4.3.3	Dense Membrane for Gas Separation Process 153
4.3.4	Solvent Resistant Nanofiltration Membrane for Organic Solvent
	Application 164
4.4	Conclusions 171
	References 173
_	
5	Langmuir–Biodgett Films: Sensor and Biomedical Applications
	and Comparisons with the Layer-by-Layer Method 181
F 1	Epameinondas Leontidis
5.1	Introduction 181
5.2	Langmuir – Blodgett Films: General Discussion 184

- viii Contents
  - 5.2.1 Deposition Methods, Film Materials, and Substrates 184
  - 5.2.2 Applications of LB Films 187
  - 5.3 LB Films of Nanoparticles 188
  - 5.4 LB Films as Sensors 189
  - 5.4.1 Types of Sensors 189
  - 5.4.2 Gas Sensors *190*
  - 5.4.3 Sensors for Ions and Other Solution Components 193
  - 5.4.4 Biosensors 195
  - 5.5 LB Films in Biomedicine *196*
  - 5.6 LB and LbL Methods: a Brief Comparison 197 References 199
  - 6 Surface Modification of Biopolymer-Based Nanoforms and Their Biological Applications 209 Susana C.M. Fernandes
  - 6.1 Introduction 209
  - 6.2 Nanocellulose and Nanochitin 209
  - 6.3 The Unique Biological Properties of Nanocellulose and Nanochitin *212*
  - 6.3.1 Nanocellulose 212
  - 6.3.1.1 Biodegradability 212
  - 6.3.1.2 Biocompatibility 213
  - 6.3.1.3 Low Cytotoxicity 213
  - 6.3.2 Nanochitin 214
  - 6.4 Functional Surface Modification 214
  - 6.4.1 For Biomedical Application 215
  - 6.4.1.1 To Improve Nanocellulose's Biodegradability 215
  - 6.4.1.2 To Expand Nanocellulose's Biocompatibility 215
  - 6.4.1.3 To Expand Nanochitin Applications 217
  - 6.4.2 For Antimicrobial Applications 218
  - 6.4.2.1 Introduction of Antimicrobial Activity to Cellulose Nanoforms 218
  - 6.4.2.2 Expansion of Antimicrobial Activity of Chitin Nanoforms 220
  - 6.5 Summary and Final Remarks 220 References 221

7 Enzyme-Based Biosensors in Food Industry via Surface Modifications 227 Nilay Gazel and Huseyin B. Yildiz

- 7.1 Introduction 227
- 7.2 Biosensors 228
- 7.2.1 Historical Perspectives of Biosensors 229
- 7.2.2 Parts of Biosensors: Bioreceptor and Transducer 230
- 7.3 Enzymes 234
- 7.3.1 Enzyme Commission Numbers 235
- 7.3.1.1 EC1 Oxidoreductases 237
- 7.3.1.2 EC2 Transferases 238

Contents ix

- 7.3.1.3 EC3 Hydrolases 238
- 7.3.1.4 EC4 Lyases 238
- 7.3.1.5 EC5 Isomerases 239
- 7.3.1.6 EC6 Ligases 239
- 7.3.2 Enzyme Immobilization 240
- 7.3.2.1 Physical Adsorption 242
- 7.3.2.2 Covalent Binding 243
- 7.3.2.3 Entrapment 243
- 7.3.2.4 Encapsulation 244
- 7.3.2.5 Cross-Linking 245
- 7.4 Application of Enzyme-Based Biosensors in Food Industry 245
- 7.5 Conclusion 247
  - References 247

#### 8 Heterogeneous Catalysis from the Perspective of Surface Science 253

- Aydin Cihanoğlu, Diego Hernán Quiñones-Murillo, and Gizem Payer
- 8.1 Introduction to Solid Surface 253
- 8.1.1 Historical Perspective of Surface Science and Catalysis 253
- 8.1.2 Industrial and Economical Aspects of Catalysis 254
- 8.2 Reaction Mechanisms and Kinetics 255
- 8.2.1 Catalysis 255
- 8.2.2 Individual Steps in Heterogeneous Catalysis 258
- 8.2.3 Rates of Reaction 258
- 8.2.3.1 Reaction Mechanisms and Rate Laws 259
- 8.2.3.2 Microscopic Reversibility Principle 260
- 8.2.3.3 Rule of Simplicity 260
- 8.2.3.4 Chain Reactions 260
- 8.2.3.5 Chain Transfer Reactions 261
- 8.2.3.6 Enzymatic Reactions 262
- 8.2.3.7 Inhibition of Enzymatic Reactions 262
- 8.2.3.8 Heterogeneous Catalytic Reactions 263
- 8.3 Preparation of Catalysts 265
- 8.3.1 Precipitation 265
- 8.3.2 Gelation (Sol–Gel Process) 266
- 8.3.3 Impregnation 268
- 8.3.4 Chemical Vapor Deposition 269
- 8.3.5 Solvothermal Treatments 269
- 8.3.6 Ion Exchange 270
- 8.4 Modifications and Characterizations of Solid Surface 271
- 8.4.1 Modification Methods 271
- 8.4.2 Characterizations 276 Acknowledgment 278 References 278

Index 283

#### **List of Contributors**

#### Aydin Cihanoğlu

Department of Chemical Engineering İzmir Institute of Technology Gülbahçe-Urla 35430 İzmir Turkey

#### Daryoush Emazadah

Islamic Azad University Department of Chemical Engineering Gachsaran Branch Gachsaran Iran

#### Beyhan Erdoğan

DYO Paints Manufacturing & Trading Company INC Atatürk Organize Sanayi Bölgesi 10003 Sok. No: 2 35620 Çiğli – İZMİR Turkey

#### Gökhan Erdoğan

Gediz University Department of Biomedical Engineering 35665 Seyrek – Izmir Turkey

#### Ahmad Fauzi Ismail

Universiti Teknologi Malaysia Advanced Membrane Technology Research Centre (AMTEC) Skudai Johor 81310 Malaysia

#### Susana C.M. Fernandes

Division of Glycoscience School Biotechnology Royal Institute of Technology (KTH) Roslagstullsbacken 21 Stockholm SE-10691 Sweden

#### Nilay Gazel

Selcuk University Department of Chemistry Alaaddin Keykubat Campus 42075 Konya Turkey

#### Günnur Güler

Ege University Center for Drug Research and Development and Pharmacokinetic Applications (ARGEFAR) 35100 Bornova – Izmir Turkey

#### xii List of Contributors

#### Mehmet Gürsoy

Selcuk University Department of Chemical Engineering Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü Merkez/42075 Konya Turkey

#### Rasoul Jamshidi Gohari

Islamic Azad University Department of Chemical Engineering Bardsir Branch Bardsir Iran

#### Mustafa Karaman

Selcuk University Department of Chemical Engineering Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü Merkez/42075 Konya Turkey

#### Duygu O. Kiliç

Center for Materials Research Izmir Institute of Technology 35430 Urla – Izmir Turkey

#### Tuğba Kiliç

École polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne (EPFL) Institute of Bioengineering Lausanne CH 1015 Switzerland

#### Hilal D. Kivrak

Yuzuncu Yil University Faculty of Engineering Department of Chemical Engineering 65080 Van Turkey

#### Mahmut Kuş

Selcuk University Department of Chemical Engineering Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü 42075 Konya Turkey

#### Woei-Jye Lau

Universiti Teknologi Malaysia Advanced Membrane Technology Research Centre (AMTEC) Skudai Johor 81310 Malaysia

#### Epameinondas Leontidis

University of Cyprus Department of Chemistry Kallipoleos 75 1678 Nicosia Cyprus

#### Nadzirah Mohd Mokhtar

Universiti Teknologi Malaysia Advanced Membrane Technology Research Centre (AMTEC) Skudai Johor 81310 Malaysia

#### Nik Abdul Hadi Md Nordin

Universiti Teknologi Malaysia Advanced Membrane Technology Research Centre (AMTEC) Skudai Johor 81310 Malaysia

#### **Chi-Siang Ong**

Universiti Teknologi Malaysia Advanced Membrane Technology Research Centre (AMTEC) Skudai Johor 81310 Malaysia

#### Fatih Özcan

Selcuk University Advanced Technology Research and Application Center Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü 42075 Konya Turkey

#### Faruk Özel

Karamanoglu Mehmetbey University Department of Materials Science and Engineering 65080 Karaman Turkey

#### Gizem Payer

Department of Chemical Engineering İzmir Institute of Technology Gülbahçe–Urla 35430 İzmir Turkey

#### Diego Hernán Quiñones-Murillo

Universidad del Atlántico Department of Chemical Engineering Barranquilla 080020 Colombia

#### Özlem G. Şahin

Selcuk University Department of Chemical Engineering Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü 42075 Konya Turkey

#### Nur Aimie Abdullah Sani

Universiti Teknologi Malaysia Advanced Membrane Technology Research Centre (AMTEC) Skudai Johor 81310 Malaysia

#### Zahide Tosun

Selcuk University Department of Physics Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü 42075 Konya Turkey

#### Uğur Türkan

Gediz University Department of Biomedical Engineering 35665 Seyrek – Izmir Turkey

#### Esma Yenel

Selcuk University Advanced Technology Research and Application Center Alaaddin Keykubat Kampüsü 42075 Konya Turkey

#### Huseyin B. Yildiz

KTO Karatay University Department of Materials Science and Nanotechnology Engineering Alaaddin Kap Street 42020 Konya Turkey

#### Preface

Solids are composed of a bulk material covered by a surface. The surface acts as an interphase to the surrounding and it is usually the surface phase that determines if a material is suitable for an intended application or not. Hence, treatment of a surface through either chemical or physical routes has been an important topic that has attracted the attention of both researchers and industry because of the endless application possibilities. Surface modification techniques are now being used extensively in the textile, aerospace, automotive, biomedical, defense, chemical, tooling, construction industries, and many more as well. The purpose of this book is to give the reader some generalized concepts on the modification and characterization, as well as some insight on the recent applications of the surfaces. Other than a few old books there is no complete book that describes the whole picture. In addition, we want to get the attention of a broad range of readership including those of undergrad students, technicians, and even individuals that are interested in this topic. The language of the book is clear and concise and provides many excellent illustrations to make their point. The book covers the most basic concepts without complicated analyses so that an individual who is not familiar with the subject can also benefit. We have used as many visuals as possible to show the importance of surface treatments on many applications, including surfaces that are naturally engineered. The first three chapters of the book include basic parts: (1) surfaces in nature, (2) surface modification techniques, and (3) surface characterization techniques. The remaining chapters deal with some emerging chemical and physical applications: (4) surface modification of polymeric membranes for various separation processes, (5) Langmuir–Blodgett films: sensor and biomedical applications and comparisons with the layer-by-layer (LbL) method, (6) surface modification of biopolymer-based nanoforms and their biological applications, (7) enzyme-based biosensors in food industry via surface modifications, and (8) heterogeneous catalysis.

The most remarkable examples of surface engineering are abundant in nature. Since the beginning of the life, all kinds of living organisms from one-celled creatures to plants and animals have adapted to their environments for survival. By long trial and error processes, nature itself has generated a great number of outstanding living creatures with tested and proven sustainable biological functions. There have been numerous studies in materials science, based on

#### xvi Preface

mimicking natural materials. In Chapter 1, examples of biomimetic materials especially the related surfaces are given.

Following the increasing demand for high performance materials from the past century, the field of materials surface modification by various synthetic strategies has undergone enormous expansion. Significant numbers of studies have been carried out to develop efficient techniques for adding new functionalities to a materials surface as well as to understand the fundamental aspects of the various techniques. In Chapter 2, the basics of most significant surface modification processes are given. Although both dry- and wet-coating techniques are involved, emphasis is given to vapor deposition techniques.

The chemical, physical, and morphological features of surfaces including wettability, optical, adhesive, mechanical, and so on play a very crucial role in material properties. Therefore, characterization of a surface is very important for materials science. The properties of natural and fabricated material surfaces can be determined using various characterization techniques. In Chapter 3, some of the most common characterization methods are given.

Starting from Chapter 4, emerging applications of surface science are given. Membranes are industrially important materials that are used extensively in fluid separation processes. The membrane separation process is mainly governed by the characteristics of the membrane top layer. Thus, modifications of membrane surface properties is the practical and effective approach to achieve desired separation efficiency. In general, membrane surface modification can be performed by techniques such as interfacial polymerization (for thin film composite membranes), organic–inorganic blending (for mixed matrix membranes), LbL assembly, photo-initiated polymerization, and conventional spray coating. Chapter 4 aims to overview the surface modification methods available for polymeric membranes development and discusses the importance of surface-modified membranes for various applications, covering aqueous, solvent, and gas phases.

Chapter 5 focuses on Langmuir–Blodgett films that has been an active area of research for more than a century. Many of the methods for the production of thin organic films have been adopted by nanotechnology for the production of hybrid organic–inorganic films, containing molecular layers, nanoparticles, sheet-like inorganic materials, and biopolymers. The chapter focuses mainly on Langmuir–Blodgett films and compares them to LbL films.

Chapter 6 addresses chemical surface modifications of biopolymers-based nanoforms namely nanocellulose, including bacterial cellulose, and nanochitin, for biological applications. These biopolymers provide sustainable solutions to the need for new (bio)materials in biological applications due to their unique biological properties like low toxicity, biocompatibility, biodegradability, and bioactivity. Nonetheless, further chemical functionalization has been advanced in order to optimize their intrinsic properties and/or generate novel functions to develop new materials, in particular functional bionanocomposites.

Biotechnological applications of enzyme-based biosensors have become an important tool for the detection of chemical and biological components for food monitoring due to their exceptional performance capabilities toward food materials, which include high specificity and sensitivity, rapid response, low

#### Preface xvii

cost, relatively compact size, and user-friendly operations. In Chapter 7, detailed information is shared about surface modifications of enzymes, immobilization of enzymes, main characteristics of enzyme based biosensors, and their usage in food analysis.

In Chapter 8, the importance of heterogeneous catalysis is discussed in terms of solid surface science. Considering this purpose, general information about heterogeneous catalysis and surface science including their industrial and economic importance, reaction mechanisms and kinetics in heterogeneous catalysis systems, and preparation and characterization methods for heterogeneous catalysts are given.

Finally, we wish to express sincerely our gratitude to all authors and co-authors of the book, because of their great effort during the preparation of this book.

22 September 2016 Konya, Turkey Mehmet Gürsoy Mustafa Karaman

#### **Surfaces in Nature**

1

Mehmet Gürsoy and Mustafa Karaman

"Natura nihil frustra facit" (Nature does nothing in vain). Aristotle (384–322 BC)

#### 1.1 Introduction

Human beings have used nature in order to meet their needs. Early inhabitants took advantage of natural resources and materials just for their fundamental needs such as food, shelter, and clothing. Over the past several centuries, science and technology have developed exponentially in the world. Conventional materials and methods such as self-cleaning surfaces, new generation optical devices, biomaterials, and so on are not enough to meet the requirements of high-technology applications.

Thanks to improvements in surface analysis techniques, scientists can look deep into nature. In this way, the relationships between the structure and functions of living organisms can be investigated.

Since the beginning of life, all kinds of living organisms from one-celled creatures to plants and animals have adapted to their environments for survival. By extensive trial and error processes, nature itself has created a great number of outstanding living creatures with tested and proven sustainable biological functions. As a result of the long adaptation process (spanning millions of years), organisms have developed impressive features that have equipped them better to compete for limited resources, defend themselves against their predators, and live longer. Therefore, it can be easily said that nature is the best materials scientist ever. Because of this, copying or mimicking of biological systems is an effective way to produce desired high-technology materials. This approach is called as *biomimicry*.

The word biomimicry is a combination of two Ancient Greek words, "bios" meaning "life," and "mimesis" meaning "to imitate." Biomimicry can be defined as that branch of science that seeks to imitate processes or structures existing in nature. The main philosophy behind biomimicry is "If Nature can do it, so can we." With this approach, nature is used as a guide to tackle problems using biomimetic materials and processes.

Edited by Mehmet Gürsoy and Mustafa Karaman.

Surface Treatments for Biological, Chemical and Physical Applications, First Edition.

<sup>© 2017</sup> Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

#### 2 1 Surfaces in Nature

Biomimetic innovation is based on the observation and mimicking of nature. Indeed, observation and learning from nature began in the initial days of mankind. That is why, biomimicry has been accepted as an ancient discipline. Throughout history, nature has inspired us to invent many tools.

During the Renaissance Period, numerous impressive bio-inspired designs were produced by Leonardo Da Vinci. For instance, he designed a flying machine by investigating bird anatomy. His words on nature show why he applied bio-inspired idea on his designs: "Although human genius through various inventions, makes instruments corresponding the same ends, it will never discover an invention more beautiful, nor more ready, nor more economical than does nature, because in her inventions nothing is lacking and nothing is superfluous [1]."

In 1969, the term *biomimetics* was first used by bioengineer Otto Herbert Schmitt in his paper at the Third International Biophysics Congress in Boston [2]. However, biomimicry was popularized by Janine Benyus in her book Biomimicry: Innovation Inspired by Nature (1997) [3]. Subsequently, biomimetic approaches have become more and more popular and important during the past decades in almost all research fields.

There have been a lot of studies in materials science, based on mimicking natural materials. In this chapter, examples of biomimetic materials, especially the related surfaces, are given.

#### 1.2 Inspiring Natural Surface Structures

#### 1.2.1 Self-Cleaning Surfaces

Self-cleaning surfaces are in great demand for fundamental research and various industrial applications. These types of surfaces must have two important criteria: very high contact angle and low contact angle hysteresis.

Contact angle can be defined as a measure of the wettability of a solid surface by a liquid drop (Figure 1.1a). Theoretically, the contact angle values must be between 0° and 180°. If the contact angle is less than 90°, these surfaces are classed as hydrophilic. If the wetting angle is higher than 90°, these kind of surfaces can be accepted as water repellent. When a contact angle approaches 180°, the surface is considered superhydrophobic. Adhesion of droplets on the surface can be determined by dynamic contact angle measurements. Dynamic contact angle is referred as *advancing contact angle* (the maximum value of the contact angle) and *receding contact angle* (the minimum value of the contact angle). Contact angle hysteresis is the difference between them. There is a strong relation between sliding angle and contact angle hysteresis. Sliding angle is the required minimum angle to move the droplet on surfaces (Figure 1.1b). As the contact angle hysteresis decreases the drops can easily roll off from the surfaces.

In nature, self-cleaning properties have been observed in various plant leaves. On a rainy day, the raindrops do not spread on the plant leaf and these drops completely roll off the leaf. And thus, undesirable particles on the leaves are easily removed by rolling water drops. It is also known that pathogenic microorganisms



**Figure 1.1** (a)  $\theta$  is the water contact angle and (b)  $\alpha$  is defined as the inclination angle at which a water drop rolls off the surface.

cannot germinate and infect leaves without water. For this reason, self-cleaning helps prevent the occurrence of plant diseases [4].

Among the plants that are self-cleaning, lotus is one of the most popular examples due to its very high contact angle and very low hysteresis. These values are 164° and 3°, respectively [5]. That is why, the term *Lotus Effect* is also used in place of "Self-Cleaning Effect" in the literature [6]. The lotus grows in an aquatic environment such as lakes, and shallow and muddy water. It always achieves to remain clean even in dirty waters [7, 8]. For this reason, the lotus is considered as a symbol of purity.

The plants are covered by a cuticular surface except for their roots. The cuticle layer is a natural composite that is the interface between plants and their environment [9]. This composite consists mostly of two parts, soluble lipids and bio-polyesters [10, 11]. Because of the chemical structures of these components, the cuticle layers usually exhibit hydrophobic properties. Lotus leaf surface is also covered by low surface energy cuticular surface, which contains mainly  $-CH_2-$ groups [12]. The relation between the contact angle and surface energy was formulated in Young's Eq. (1.1) describing wetting phenomena in terms of thermodynamic equilibrium [13] (Figure 1.2).

$$\cos\theta = \frac{\gamma_{\rm SV} - \gamma_{\rm SL}}{\gamma_{\rm LV}} \tag{1.1}$$

where  $\theta$  is the contact angle of the liquid,  $\gamma_{SL}$  is the interfacial surface tensions between the solid and the liquid,  $\gamma_{SV}$  and  $\gamma_{LV}$  are the solid and liquid surface free energy, respectively. According to Eq. (1.1), decreasing  $\gamma_{SV}$  should increase the contact angle value.

However, it is well known that the lower surface energy of  $-CH_3$  groups or fluorocarbons do not exist in any biological systems [12]. So, the contact angle of

**Figure 1.2** The schematic representation of a liquid drop with the contact angle and tension vectors.



#### 4 1 Surfaces in Nature



**Figure 1.3** The SEM image of adaxial lotus leaf surface, scale bar =  $20 \,\mu$ m. (Barthlott 1997 [9]. Reproduced with permission of Springer.)

a planar cuticular surface can be a maximum of about 110° [14]. Thus, in nature only having low surface energy surface is not enough to be superhydrophobic. By means of scanning electron microscope (SEM), micrometer scale bumps and nanometer scale wax crystals were observed on the lotus leaf surface [9]. The SEM image of adaxial lotus leaf surface structure is given in Figure 1.3.

The effect of surface roughness on the wettability can be explained with the help of the Wenzel model [15, 16]. The Wenzel model describes the following Eq. (1.2).

$$\cos\theta = R_{\rm f}\cos\theta_0\tag{1.2}$$

In which,  $\theta$  is the contact angle of a rough surface,  $\theta_0$  is the contact angle of a smooth surface, and  $R_f$  is the surface roughness factor. The roughness factor is defined as the ratio of the actual surface area to the geometric surface area. If the surface is flat,  $R_f = 1$ ; however, this value must be higher than 1 for rough surfaces. For a hydrophilic surface,  $\theta_0$  must be lower than 90°, roughness decreases the contact angle. On the other hand, for hydrophobic surfaces, as in lotus leaf,  $\theta_0$  is greater than 90°. Therefore, according to Wenzel equation, it is expected that increasing the surface roughness increases hydrophilicity [17].

In brief, water repellent surfaces can be produced in two different ways: changing the surface morphology and decreasing the surface free energy. In the former method, the underlying principle is to create micro/nanoscale rough structures on the surfaces. In the latter method, the surfaces are usually coated with hydrophobic functional groups. Only having low surface energy or only having rough surfaces may not be sufficient to be superhydrophobic. Thus, the production of superhydrophobic surfaces mostly requires the combination of two methods.

The extraordinary surface morphology of lotus leaf minimizes the contact area between its surface and water drops. The hierarchical micro/nanostructures provide that air is trapped underneath the water drop. That is why, very high contact angle values are observed on the lotus leaf. The unique structure of the lotus leaf can be directly imitated in order to produce self-cleaning materials.

Roughening fluorinated polymers and silicones directly leads to superhydrophobic surfaces, because of the inherent hydrophobic nature of these kinds of polymers. For example, Barshilia and Gupta [18] treated polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE/Teflon) surfaces with argon and oxygen plasma to obtain a superhydrophobic surface. The highest average water contact angle and the maximum surface roughness were found for 4 h plasma treatment. During plasma treatment, inspite of changing the surface morphology, functional groups were preserved. The contact angle value increased from 102° to 158°. After 10 months, the contact angle was again measured from the modified surface and almost the same values were found. According to the results, the superhydrophobicity of obtained surface remains unchanged even after a long time. Similarly, Jin *et al.* [19] created a polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) surface containing micro-, submicro-, and nanostructures using a one-step laser etching method. Etched PDMS surface with these special structures showed high water contact angle (162°) and low sliding angle (< 5°).

Coating rough or hierarchical surfaces with low surface energy materials is also a common method to produce self-cleaning materials. Ma et al. [20], produced superhydrophobic fabrics by a two-step process. In the first step, poly(caprolactone) (PCL) fibers were generated by the electrospinnig method. And then, the fiber mat surfaces were coated with perfluoroalkyl ethyl methacrylate (PPFEMA) by Initiated Chemical Vapor Deposition (iCVD). These PFEMA-coated electrospun fibers exhibited very good self-cleaning properties with contact angle of 175° and sliding angle of lower than 2.5°. These results are attributed to the combination of the inherent roughness of the electrospun mats and the low surface energy of the PPFEMA coating. Liu et al. [21] fabricated micro-nanoscale binary structured composite particles of silica/fluoropolymer using an emulsion-mediated sol-gel method to mimic the surface microstructures on the lotus surface. With this method, super hydrophobic surfaces with water contact angle larger than 150° were obtained. Grewal et al. [22] investigated the effect of different micro- and nanopatterned surfaces on their wettability and tribological surfaces. The hierarchical patterns were designed, imitating the topography of the adaxial surface of lotus leaf. The advancing and receding contact angle of PTFE-coated hierarchical structure surface was found to be similar to those of the lotus leaf.

The casting method (soft molding) is another simple and effective way to replicate leaf surface structures. Sun *et al.* [23] successfully applied this method for lotus leaf at the first time. They cast PDMS on the lotus leaf, and then the PDMS layer was peeled off. After that, this negative PDMS layer was used to make a positive PDMS layer. According to SEM results, the positive replica and the original lotus leaf showed the same surface structures. The positive template also exhibited similar superhydrophobic properties as the fresh lotus leaf. The contact angle of the positive replica was found as 160° and the water droplets could easily roll off this surface.



1 Surfaces in Nature

**Figure 1.4** (a) Cassie model wetting regime and (b) Cassie impregnating wetting regime.

#### 1.2.2 Adhesive Hydrophobic Surfaces

Similarly to lotus leaves, the hierarchical nano- and microstructures on the red rose petal surface provide a high contact angle. However, differently from lotus leaves, water droplets do not slide off the surface of a red rose petal.

Basically, two main hypotheses are used to explain superhydrophobicity on rough surfaces: Wenzel and Cassie wetting regimes. The former regime has been already mentioned in the beginning of this chapter. The Cassie model was developed after the Wenzel's state. According to the Cassie model [24], air is trapped in micro- and nanostructures underneath the water droplets, as seen in Figure 1.4. Because of these air pockets, the liquid cannot wet the surface. It is thus expected that water drops easily roll off this kind of surface, just as in the lotus leaf. The wetting mechanism of lotus leaf is an excellent example for Cassie wetting regime. On the other hand, spherical water droplets usually stick on the red rose petal surfaces. This different behavior can be attributed to difference in the surface topography between the red rose petal and lotus leaf. It is observed that the sizes of the structures on the red rose petal are larger than those of lotus leaves [25]. While water drops cannot enter into the grooves of the lotus surface, they can enter into the grooves of the red rose petal surface.

This phenomenon is known as the *Cassie impregnating wetting regime* as seen in Figure 1.4 [26]. Due to the high adhesion between the water drops and petal surface, the petal surface exhibits a high contact angle. Therefore, water droplets do not fall off even if the petal surface is tilted to 180°. The unique wettability behavior of red rose petal surface was defined as the "petal effect" by Feng *et al.* [27] for the first time in the literature. Recently, there has been a great deal of interest in fabrication of artificial "petal effect" coating and surfaces that mimic the original red rose petal.

Karaman *et al.* produced a thin "petal effect" polymer sheet using a combination of casting and iCVD methods [28]. Firstly, they poured poly vinyl alcohol (PVA) solution on the surface of a fresh red rose petal. The obtained PVA negative mold was placed in an iCVD reactor, then coated by poly(glycidyl methacrylate) (PGMA) and poly(1*H*,1*H*,2*H*,2*H*-perfluorodecyl acrylate) (PPFDA). This schematic duplication process of the red rose petal surface is presented in Figure 1.5. The contact angle of the positive replica was found as  $152 \pm 3^{\circ}$  and the water did not roll off even when the biomimetic polymer sheet was turned upside down.

Fluorinated polyimide was synthesized by the electrospinning method by Guangming *et al.* [29]. The surface of nanofibers consisted of dented nanoand/or micro bowl-like structures. The air is trapped in bowl-like particles below the water droplets; this situation provides a very high contact angle. Moreover, when the droplet is lifted, the air pocket expands, which creates a negative pressure, and thus the adhesion between water droplet and surface is increased.



**Figure 1.5** The schematic duplication process of the red rose petal surface. (Karaman 2012 [28]. Reproduced with permission of Elsevier.)

The maximum adhesion force of the petal effect surface was measured as  $127 \,\mu N$  and the contact angle was found as  $153^{\circ}$ .

Recently, the tunable adhesive superhydrophobic surfaces have been produced by controlling the reaction parameters, such as reaction time, particle sizes, surface roughness, and so on. In other words, superhydrophobic surfaces having tunable water adhesion capability allow choosing wetting behaviors, "lotus effect" or "petal effect." For instance, Liu *et al.* [30] developed a one-step electrodeposition process in that, superhydrophobic surfaces with controlled adhesion can be easily produced by just changing the reaction time. When the reaction time is 10 min, a petal effect surface was obtained and the maximum contact angel was found as 155.1°. When the reaction time increased further up to 30 min, a self-cleaning surface was obtained. Its static contact angle and contact angel hysteresis were found to be 161.7° and 3°, respectively.

Another fabrication of superhydrophobic surfaces with tunable water droplet adhesion was carried out by Xie *et al.* [31]. They used both  $O_2$  plasma etching and plasma deposition of thin films to create a superhydrophobic wood surface. Firstly, wood substrates were exposed to  $O_2$  plasma, and then were coated with pentafluoroethane (PFE) films. The obtaining surfaces showed lotus effect properties with high contact angle (161.2° ± 1.5°) and low sliding angle (~15°). When wood samples were coated with diamond-like carbon (DLC) after the etching property, thees surfaces also exhibited high contact angle (153.7° ± 2.7°). However, differently from PFE-coated wood, DLC-coated samples showed a petal effect.

#### 1.2.3 Unidirectionally Superhydrophobic Surfaces

In superhydrophobic structures that show lotus effect property, having low contact angle hysteresis is not enough for some applications, the unidirectional movement of water is also important. The water droplets move in all directions on the lotus leaf surfaces. On the other hand, the water drops on rice leaf surfaces

#### 8 1 Surfaces in Nature



Figure 1.6 The SEM image of adaxial rice leaf surface [35]. (Yao http://link.springer.com/ article/10.1007/s11434-012-5220-1. Used under CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/.)

roll along just the long-axis direction [32]. The difference between lotus leaf and rice leaf can be attributed to surface topography. Actually, there are similar structures on both these natural surfaces. However, while these microstructures are randomly located on a lotus leaf, they are set on a one-dimensional order (parallel to the leaf edge) on the rice leaf [33]. This observation is consistent with the difference between the parallel and perpendicular direction sliding angles on the rice leaf. These values of parallel direction and perpendicular to the leaf edge were found as  $3-5^{\circ}$  and  $9-15^{\circ}$ , respectively [34]. Rice leaf surface structure is an excellent example for the fabrication of unidirectionally superhydrophobic surfaces. The hierarchical structures can be seen in Figure 1.6 [35].

Yang *et al.* used the combination of lithography- assisted electrochemical etching, anodic oxidation, and fluoridation methods to fabricate artificial rice leaf structures [36]. They achieved to fabricate a three-level microstructure (macro/micro/nano) of rice leaves on aluminum. This biomimetic structure shows superhydrophobicity and anisotropic sliding behavior.

Zhu *et al.* fabricated the large area surface with ordered binary structure arrays by mimicking the rice leaf surface structure [37]. The underlying pattern on the substrate can be easily modified by changing the polymer solution concentration, which provides the fabrication of various topographies. The obtaining surfaces demonstrate anisotropic wettability similarly to rice leaf.

In another study, Yao *et al.* developed a two-step soft transfer to produce an artificial rice leaf structure [35]. The obtained biomimetic rice surface exhibited superhydrophobicity and anisotropic sliding properties that were similar to those of natural rice. Parallel and perpendicular sliding angles were found as 25° and 40°, respectively.

Wu *et al.* used improved laser interference lithography to fabricate micropearl arrays for adjusting two-directional unidirectional wetting structures [38]. They systematically investigated the effect of laser beam intensity ratio and resin

thickness on anisotropic wetting behavior. According to appropriate parameters, micropearl arrays were designed and modifying them with fluoroalkylsilane created biomimetic surfaces exhibiting wettability properties very similar to those of rice leaf.

#### 1.2.4 Fog Harvesting Surfaces

Access to safe and sufficient water is of vital importance to people. However, water scarcity is one of the major environmental issues, in today's world. According to World Health Organization (WHO) reports, an estimated 2.5 billion people have no access to improved sanitation and, unfortunately, each year hundreds of thousands children die from water-related diseases such as diarrhea [39–41]. Learning from living creatures that live in arid conditions is an efficient way to obtain clean water. For instance, Namib Desert beetles (*Stenocara*) overcome the lack of water by collecting moisture from air. Actually, collecting fine fog droplets is not easy in the heat and breeze of the desert. The fog collecting of mechanism of Stenocara was revealed by Parker and Lawrence. They discovered an array of hydrophilic bumps on the beetle backs, which are surrounded by hydrophobic waxy lines [42]. The fine moisture droplets collect on hydrophilic bumps and start to grow. When the collecting droplets reach sufficient weight, they detach and roll down the tilted hydrophobic beetle's back can be seen in Figure 1.7 [42].

Zhai *et al.* successfully mimicked the back of the Stenocara beetle creating hydrophilic patterns on superhydrophobic surfaces [43]. Garrod *et al.* used a two-step plasma chemical method to produce the hydrophilic–hydrophobic pattern, which is similar to the Stenocara beetle's back [44]. Another study that is inspired by the fog harvesting surface structure of the Stenocara beetle's back was carried out by Dorrer and Rühe [45]. They fabricated various super-hydrophobic surfaces patterned with smooth, circular patches of hydrophilic domains. According to the results, it was found that the pinning force for a given pump was constant and independent of the drop volume. Except for the Namib Desert beetle, some other organisms have water collection ability. Cactus is one of these organisms. It can survive in extremely arid conditions because of its efficient fog collection mechanism. A cactus consists of conical spines



**Figure 1.7** (a) The photo of an adult female *Stenocara* sp. and (b) the SEM image of the *Stenocara* sp. dorsal surface, scale bar =  $10 \,\mu$ m. (Parker 2001 [42]. Reproduced with permission of Nature Publishing Group.)

#### **10** 1 Surfaces in Nature



**Figure 1.8** (a) The photograph of the cactus *Opuntia microdasys* scale bar = 5 cm, (b) the photography of a single cluster containing a lot of spines, scale bar = 100 mm, and (c) the SEM image of the spine, scale bar =  $20 \,\mu$ m. (Ju 2012 [46]. Reproduced with permission of Nature Publishing Group.)

and hierarchically hydrophilic/hydrophobic structures [46]. The fog collection system of cactus is based on the Laplace pressure gradient and the wettability difference [47–49]. The hierarchical structures of the cactus' spines can be seen in Figure 1.8 [46]. Cao *et al.* produced biomimetic microtip arrays, which are similar to those of cactus, using a modified magnetic particle-assisted molding method [49]. The morphology of the tips is adjusted by changing the weight ratio of PDMS to magnetic particles. The optimal ratio of PDMS to magnetic particles was found to be 2:1. Andrews *et al.* reported that the *Cotula fallax* plant can also collect water from moisture due to its unique hierarchical 3D arrangement formed by its leaves and the fine hairs covering them [50].

#### 1.2.5 Anti-reflective Surfaces

Anti-reflective coatings are used in many technological applications such as glasses computer screens, solar cells, military hardware, and so on. The purpose of using anti-reflective coating is to maximize the transmission of light through an optical surface [51].

In nature, anti-reflective structures are found in some insects. These structures can be found in their eyes, which make it possible to see objects in even low-light environments. These natural anti-reflective structures can also be found on their body surface that helps in hiding from enemies by reducing reflections [52]. For example, the eyes of the moth consist of hexagonal arrays that reduces optical losses. The dimensions of this structure are smaller than the wavelength of the light, so the reflection of light is effectively suppressed [53]. The hierarchical structure of the moth eye is shown in Figure 1.9 [54].

Moth eyes inspired anti-reflective structures that have been fabricated by various methods. One of these studies was carried out by Raut *et al.* [55]. They produced anti-reflective structures using "sacrificial layer mediated nanoim-printing." For wavelengths between 400 and 1000, while non-anti-reflective